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5. THE SUBURB OF EASTLAKES

Eastlakes is situated at the northern edge of the former Botany LGA marked as (5) on the above aerial.  

The suburb of Eastlakes covers the area from Maloney Street to Eastlakes Golf Club, and from Gardeners 

Road down to Wentworth Avenue. It was named after the great wetland lake system that sits within it, 

however Eastlakes as it exists today has changed a great deal. 

Originally the land that now makes up the suburb of Eastlakes was a collection of land grants and Crown 

Land purchases, dominated by the 417 acres made to T.W.M.Winder.  Winder was granted this land for 

its industrial potential due to the abundant water supply, but it was never intensively developed and has 

continued to be largely open space into the 21st century.  The boundaries of some smaller holdings are 

clearly marked by the road pattern.  These smaller parcels were purchased from the Crown and used for 

market gardens.  Owners within the Eastlakes area included James Holt, J. Newton and Charles Whitney.

The wetlands environment of Eastlakes was a significant deterrent for housing and industrial development 

which was being seen in surrounding areas of North Botany (Mascot), Botany and Banksmeadow at the 

time. The Eastlakes area remained relatively undeveloped until the 20th century, when its wetlands 

proved to be instead a considerable advantage for one particular use – golf. In 1928 two golf courses were 

established on the land surrounding the wetlands; the Lakes Golf Club and Eastlake Golf Club (the latter 

being a public course). Whereas golf courses usually were designed to suit the existing terrain, the Lakes 
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Golf course was designed to have the mounds and rolls constructed in 

the positions where they should ideally be. This added technical skill 

and enjoyment to the course. In May 1934 the Lakes Golf Club organised 

the first international golf match held in Australia, and was also host to 

the Lakes Open and NSW Open and Closed Championships. 

One of the most obvious changes to Eastlakes over the years has been the 

addition of Southern Cross Drive which now dissects the suburb. The 

government’s decision to build Southern Cross Drive in 1968 led to the 

Lakes course being closed to be redesigned around it.  

The other major attraction to the area in the 20th century was 

Rosebery Park Racecourse, which, although named Rosebery, was 

situated in Eastlakes. It was the second ‘Rosebery Racecourse’ (the 

first being constructed just outside of the former Botany Bay LGA, on 

the north-eastern junction of Gardeners Road and Botany Road) and 

was built in 1906, with a new grandstand estimated at £12,000. It was 

a very successful attraction and regularly held meets with thousands of 

attendees. In both world wars, Rosebery Park Racecourse was used as a 

parade ground and military training ground (including for the 1st Light 

Horse Brigade in Wolrd War I) and became the headquarters of the 8th 

Division of the Australian Imperial Force in World War II. 

In 1961 the Sydney Turf Club sold Rosebery Park Racecourse to Parkes 

Developments Pty Ltd. Over the next ten years the old racecourse was 

replaced by the Lakes Shopping Centre, and over 65 red brick ‘walk-up’ 

style apartments, as well as a handful of public housing developments 

– including a complex designed by noted architect, Harry Seidler 

(1923-2006). The remainder of the suburb was developed for detached 

residential cottages.  

(top) The area covered by the subdivision plans at BCHA.

(below)  The suburb of Eastlakes in 2014.  Approximately two-thirds is within the area of two of the earliest land grants in the 
Botany District, the 417 acres to Winder and 600 acres to Simeon Lord.  They remain wetlands and open space, although now 
bisected by the elevated carriageway of Southern Cross Drive.  The residential area is mostly low density early 20th century 
detached housing with some areas of higher density, particularly in the area of the former Rosebery Racecourse. 
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Facing page:

(top) In 1909 Eastlakes was largely 
undeveloped, with market gardens 
along the western fringe.

(below) By 1943 extensive residential 
development can be seen.  The area of 
Rosebery Racecourse is clearly visible. 

(this page) Simeon Lord’s original 600 
acre grant extended into the southern 
part of the suburb.  The area was not 
suitable for building and has remained 
open space, although now bisected by 
the elevated carriageway of Southern 
Cross Drive. 
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6. THE SUBURB OF HILLSDALE

The suburb of Hillsdale (6) is located at the south-eastern corner of the former Botany LGA. Hillsdale 

was not actually gazetted as a separate suburb until 1961; prior to this, it had been a part of Matraville – 

a suburb that sat across both Botany and Randwick municipalities. Matraville was originally part of the 

Church and School Estate which reserved over 4000 acres of land in Botany (and parts of Randwick) 

to gradually sell in order to generate revenue intended to pay Anglican clergy and parochial schools. 

The scheme was abolished in 1833 and the land reverted to the crown in 1917. Daceyville was a grand 

social housing project allocated on part of this ex-reserve, and Matraville was given a similar role, being 

allocated for a dedicated settlement for soldiers returning from World War I.

The fact that Matraville extended into both Botany and Randwick Municipalities caused significant 

issues with both local councils, and so in 1961 it was proposed to formally divide the suburb, giving one 

‘half’ to each. Originally the Botany District’s portion of Matraville was to be called ‘Gilmore’ after Dame 

Mary Gilmore, however it was soon pointed out by the Postmaster-General’s Department that there was 

already a suburb named Gilmore in New South Wales, and therefore the name of ‘Hillsdale’ was chosen 

instead - a name chosen to honour Patrick Darcy Hills (1917-1992), a Minister for Local Government in 

New South Wales.

As was common throughout parts of Sydney at the time, and especially in the Botany district, apartment 



598

THEMATIC HISTORY - FORMER CITY OF BOTANY BAY

buildings became very popular forms of development and it was not 

long before the typical Sydney red-brick walk-up flats style of housing 

outnumbered the earlier cottages in and around Hillsdale. 

Hillsdale in 2014

(facing page)

(top) Hillsdale had been 
subdivided and released as 
market garden lots under 
Crown Subdivision of the 
Church and School Lands 
Estate.  

(below) The 1943 aerial 
photograph reveals that the 
wide lots of the original market 
garden subdivision had been 
largely re-subdivided into long, 
thin strip plots, with buildings 
strung along Rhodes Street in a 
linear manner.  
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The only substantial subdivision in 
Hillsdale was the sale of the Crown Land 
of the Church and School estate by public 
auction.  

Later subdivisions were more ad-hoc and 
no plans are held by BCHA.  

The area has been extensively redeveloped 
in the second half of the 20th century for 
medium density residential flat buildings. 
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7. THE SUBURB OF MASCOT

The suburb of Mascot ([7] on the aerial photograph above) extends south from Gardeners Road to the 

Botany Bay foreshore, and is located between Alexandra (Sheas Creek) Canal in the west and Maloney 

Street and Southern Cross Drive in the east (with a small portion in its north-eastern corner allotted to 

Rosebery). Within its boundaries are a wide variety of residential and commercial buildings, as well as 

part of the Botany wetlands/Mill Pond site and Sydney’s Kingsford Smith Airport (part of which is not 

included in the photograph above).

The suburb was the location of the first European land grants (see above) made in the Botany area. The 

first, Edward Redmond’s ‘Mudbank’ in 1809 (135 acres), was located near today’s heliport at Kingsford 

Smith Airport.  It was bounded on the west by Mary Lewin’s 30 acres known as ‘Newcastle’ and on her 

west, Andrew Byrne’s 30 acre grant named ‘Sea View’, both of which were also granted in 1809. Byrne and 

Lewin later married and consolidated their holding.  It was not long before more small parcels of between 

20 and 30 acres each began to be granted to various individuals. These grants were situated further north 

in the vicinity of Gardeners Road, Botany Road and O’Riordan Street today.  

The suburb was not known as Mascot until 1911; in its infancy it was usually referred to as simply ‘Botany’, 

and following more residential development in the mid-19th century it became known as ‘North Botany’, 

the name adopted when the Municipality was incorporated in 1888. 
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In the first half of the 19th century Mascot remained mostly small scale 

farms and market gardens. European landholders, who were either 

granted these farms or who later purchased them, saw the value in 

Mascot’s good soil and many either grew produce for market themselves 

or leased their land to Chinese gardeners (many of whom migrated to 

New South Wales on the back of the gold rush of the 1850s to 1880s). 

Mascot (and the surrounding Botany Bay area) was not as devastated 

by drought as was most of the Sydney Basin due to its bountiful water 

supply found in the Botany aquifer and freshwater wetlands. Because 

of this, produce from both Mascot and Botany often fetched very high 

prices at market, and it was once quoted that while the rest of Sydney 

prayed for rain, the market gardeners of Mascot and Botany prayed no 

less fervently for a continuation of dry weather. Most of the noxious trade 

industries that dominated the Botany District from the 1830s onwards 

were located further south down in Botany and Banksmeadow, however 

there was one major tannery, Birdsall Tannery, which was established in 

1883 in Beresford Street, Mascot. Birdsall Tannery still operates however 

has since moved to premises in Botany. 

One of the larger grants in the area, Thomas Torkington’s 100 acres 

between today’s King St and Joyce Drive and west of O’Riordan Street 

(now largely within the airport) was the first attempt at a major 

subdivision in the area, with the entire area divided into 18 sections, each 

with approximately 16-18 lots laid out in a strict grid pattern, with areas 

reserved for churches and parks.  The subdivision was not successful and 

the area remained large market garden lots. 

The economy and population provided by the influx of market gardeners 

(and to some extent, tanners and woolscours) in North Botany led to 

the development of a small village in the area by the 1880s. It included 

businesses which were small in scale and targeted to the needs of the local 

community, including butchers, bakers, grocers and confectioners. Before 

long solicitors, hairdressers, dressmakers and even saloons (billiard 

rooms) had also arrived at North Botany. Two major pubs were built in 

Mascot; the first being the Half-Way House Hotel in 1855 (re-built and 

renamed the Newmarket Hotel in 1900) and the second, The Tennyson 

Hotel, built by 1880, and possibly even earlier. North Botany gained a 

post office (1889), fire service (1891) and a Public School (Mascot Primary 

School) in 1922. Ascot Racecourse opened in Mascot in 1906, followed by 

the Ascot Theatre in 1912; both were popular additions to Mascot which 

by that time had evolved from being a small village one passed through on 

Mascot in 2014.  The western 
and southern parts of the 
suburb are dominated by the 
airport. 
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route to Botany into a thriving local community in its own right. 

Although the Ascot Theatre was perhaps the most enjoyable development for many young Mascot 

residents in the early 20th century, the most significant development to occur in the locality was 

the establishment of Kingsford Smith Airport. Originally operating in a fattening paddock between 

Alexandra Canal and Ascot Racecourse, the Mascot Aerodrome quickly grew from a private field for 

flying enthusiasts in 1919 to becoming an Australian Government project in 1921 and in 1936 was given the 

status as an official international airport, named Kingsford Smith Airport. It was expanded several times 

over the 20th century, causing the re-alignment of Cooks River and leading to major land reclamations 

which eventually subsumed Lauriston Park village, the Australian Gun Club and Ascot Racecourse. 

Today, Mascot suburb is dominated by the airport and an industrial precinct between Alexandra Canal 

and O’Riordan Street, most of the businesses within which service the cargo industry. Residential 

development grew steadily in the eastern part of the suburb in the late 19th and early 20th centuries 

following re-subdivision of the sites originally used primarily for market gardening. 
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In 1909 the area was still largely semi-rural with much of the land used for market gardens.  The western half of the area 
evolved into an industrial area and the eastern into a residential one.  The construction of the airport expanded the area 
of the suburb considerably and has overwritten all evidence of many of the early subdivisions, including the original 
land grants.  The boundary has also been adjusted to reflect reclamation and the re-alignment of the Cooks River. 
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By 1943 residential development was well-established to the east of Botany Road and the western area was starting to be 
dominated by the airport and its runways. . 
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Location of subdivision plans held by Council - shown on the 1909 base (above) and 2014 aerial photograph (facing page). 
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1843 

Subdivision of Mr Flood’s Land 
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In 1841 a speculative private subdivision proposed the “Township of Botany” in the area 
now known as Mascot.  The subdivision plan shows a basic grid-pattern with little in-
ternal differentiation.   A small reserve was proposed for a church.  The plan also shows 
the names of some existing occupants and footprints of nearby buildings.  A path to the 
St Peters area is also shown - a bridge was provided to cross Sheas Creek.  The develop-
ment did not proceed, and the land remained in its original configuration and market 
garden use. 
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R.J. Want aggregated a considerable holding in the Mascot area which by the date of the plan to the right (1869), extended from 
Mudbank Road to Winder’s Grant in the east.  Most was tenanted to market gardeners, and portions were released for sale 
periodically, with the residue lots being re-offered over many years.  It is these subdivisions that have played an important role 
in the pattern of development of the suburb today.  The shaded areas above show the area to the east of Botany Road that was 
offered in  1857., and the light green areas on the plan to the right show the lots that had been sold.   
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In 1864 this area had been purchased by Edward Lord, Simeon Lord’s son and had been subdivided into large, square lots as 
the Mudbank Estate.  The later “Edward Lord’s Estate” shows that the western area had been re-subdivided into smaller lots, 
but was still marketed as “market garden leaseholds’.   The advertisement also shows the details of the use of the handle area, 
with buildings, fences and sheds all included. 
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8. THE SUBURB OF PAGEWOOD

The suburb of Pagewood is located at (8) in the aerial photograph above. 

The eastern part of the suburb of Pagewood was originally named ‘Daceyville No.2’ and was conceived 

to be an extension of the philosophical and social experiment that was Daceyville, or Dacey Garden 

Suburb; and the western was a stripped, commercial version of the ‘garden suburb’ development known 

as ‘Dudley’.

At the turn of the century Sydney was riddled with slums and disease. In 1909 a Royal Commission was 

called to investigate methods of fulfilling social and hygienic needs by relocating workers into detached, 

greened suburban houses. In 1911 John Rowland Dacey (1854-1912), the local State Member and NSW 

Treasurer, introduced enabling legislation for a ‘model suburb’ to be constructed at State Government 

expense to create healthy, affordable housing to serve as standard for municipal councils and as a 

monument to the social conscience of the first Labor Government of NSW. The Housing Act was passed 

on 24 April 1912, in effect allowing for the first time the State Government to act as both constructor 

and landlord of housing. The Housing Board of NSW was established to oversee the work that would be 

carried out in response to the Act. The NSW Labor Government was the first in the world to secure a site 

for an entire garden suburb that would remain under government management. 
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The site chosen for the experiment was a portion of land excised from 

the abandoned Church and School Estate scheme at Botany. Designed 

to be the complete opposite of Sydney’s inner city slums, Daceyville’s 

planners took a very modern and scientific approach to developing 

the suburb. The ideals of the British Garden City Movement were 

a major source of inspiration, as shown by the suburb’s alternative 

name – Dacey Garden Suburb. Born out of the ills of the 19th century 

industrial city, the ‘garden city’ movement sought to merge the best 

elements of city and country life. They were planned to be spacious 

with wide avenues resembling tree-lined boulevards that radiated 

outwards from an inner ‘hub’. The entrance to the suburb was 

ideally a garden setting, surrounded by a circular parade of shops 

and community buildings. Houses were to be set well back from the 

street to allow for large gardens (where residents were encouraged 

to grow their own food) and front fences were abolished in favour of 

wide open greenery. The distinguishing feature of all garden suburbs 

was its patterns of parks and gardens which linked streets and spaces 

along wide sweeping avenues. 

Even though the self-sufficiency of the British Garden City model 

intended for Daceyville was not achieved, the layout of the suburb 

certainly aligned with the overarching philosophy; a range of cottage 

designs of sizes and arrangements of rooms, no front fences, vistas 

created by curved residential streets linked by formal avenues, 

allotments wedge shaped at the street corners and incidental green 

spaces interspersed among the housing. 

Atypically to development of that time, there were to be no back lanes 

or pubs (both elements being synonymous with ‘slum housing’). The 

deliberate absence of a licensed pub in the suburb was indicative 

of the Government’s agenda for social and moral reform, which 

advocated the improvement of morality, health and respectability of 

citizens through the provision of a carefully modelled environment of 

ordered streets, abundant nature and single-family homes. 

The original proposal was grand in scale but rising building and 

labour costs, combined with a lack of funds, slowed construction. 

By June 1920, eight years after initial work began, just 315 of the 

intended 1,473 cottages had been built. The suburb was by no means 

deserted however, and it continued to have solid population growth 

for decades after it was ‘finished’.
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Daceyville on the whole was considered a great success for public 

housing and before it was even completed a major extension was 

already being planned. Originally named ‘Daceyville No.2’, the new 

housing scheme differed from the original in that instead of providing 

public housing to citizens in need of welfare, it instead aimed at 

easing the wider issue of housing shortages in Sydney after World 

War I. The Nationalist Party, which by this time held power in 

New South Wales, introduced a new housing policy that provided 

financial assistance to those who wanted to buy an existing home or 

purchase land on which to build one. 

It was out of this policy that Daceyville’s undeveloped southern end 

was subdivided and offered for private sale.

Construction of the housing development commenced in 1919 on an 

area of land between the present Birdwood Avenue and Maroubra 

Bay Road, now Heffron Road. Daceyville No.2 was designed with the 

same objectives as Daceyville (No.1); uniform cottages on sweeping 

streetscapes and community-enticing culs-de-sac, surrounding large 

open park spaces that provided not only a place to play but also vistas 

of greenery and nature – the epitome of the ‘healthy setting’ a garden 

suburb was envisaged to be. It even had something Daceyville did not; 

a golf club and course (Bonnie Doon Golf Club).

Although it had an ‘older brother’ to learn from, Daceyville No.2 did 

have several teething problems. It had a more basic road construction 

than Daceyville combined with a significant lack of drainage. There 

were also problems with shifting sand from nearby sand dunes which, 

culminated with the poor drainage, would have had an adverse impact 

on buyers. Many plots of land remained unsold as late as the 1940s. 

The new ratepayers living at ‘Daceyville No.2’ were also unhappy 

with the name of their suburb. They argued it added confusion in 

the forwarding of mail, and there was a general underlying sentiment 

that the locals wanted an original name that they could claim to be 

their own, as a manifestation of local community pride. The notion 

was raised to perpetuate the name of F.J.Page who had entered the 

Botany Council at a by-election in 1924 and earned great respect of 

the citizens for his services as Alderman. In July 1929 Botany Council 

defined the boundaries of the new suburb and renamed it Pagewood.
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The suburb of Pagewood held several major industries that contributed 

to the history of the Botany area; namely the National Film Studios, the 

General Motors Holden (GMH) assembly plant, and an 8 acre State 

Government bus depot. Each of these establishments were situated (at 

overlapping times) between Heffron Road, Bunnerong Road, Wentworth 

Avenue and Banks Avenue between 1935 and 1982. Westfield obtained 

part of this site for the construction of its new Eastgardens Shopping 

Centre in 1982. The area of Pagewood that immediately surrounded the 

shopping centre was eventually made a separate suburb in 1999 and was 

renamed Eastgardens. 

The western end of the contemporary suburb of Pagewood extends over 

the golf courses and Wentworth Avenue to the railway goods line that 

separates it from Botany.  Most of this area was within Simeon Lord’s 

600 acre grant aimed at protecting the supply and purity of water for 

use by his flour mill and woollen cloth manufacturing factory.  Although 

included in the earliest subdivision of Lord’s land by his son George Lord, 

this area remained unsold until purchased and subdivided by real estate 

entrepreneur H. Dudley, who named the development after himself and 

set about promoting it enthusiastically as ‘Sydney’s new garden suburb’, 

despite demonstrating few of the distinctive features of this type of 

development, such as open space or evidence of a planned layout.  

For further reading the following publications are very comprehensive: ‘Dacey Garden 

Suburb: A Report for Daceyville Heritage Conservation Area within its historical 

context’ by Susan Jackson-Stepowski (2002) and ‘Audaciousville: The story of Dacey 

Garden Suburb, Australia’s first public housing estate’ by Samantha Sinnayah (2012).
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Extent of the Pagewood area included in available subdivision plans.  
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(facing page, top)  Like much of the Botany District, the Pagewood area was essentially undeveloped at the turn of the 20th 
century. 

(facing page, below)    The 1943 image shows the roads that have been laid for both  the new suburb of Dudley (;located toward 
the south) and Daceyville Subdivision 2. .  

Pagewood in 2014. The suburb covers an extensive area and straddles the three largest early land holdings: Winder’s 714 acres, 
Simeon Lord’s 600 acres (to the south-west of Winder’s) and part of the Crown Land reserved originally for the Church and 
School Estate.  It also includes two significant subdivisions: the second release of Daceyville which was targeted to the private 
purchaser but still laid out with careful attention to geometry; and the heavily promoted but only modestly successful Dudley
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9. THE SUBURB OF ROSEBERY

The suburb of Rosebery is located near the centre of the former Botany area (9).  Only a small part of 

the suburb is within the Botany District, the remainder extends north into the Sydney City area.  The 

following historical summary addresses only the land within the former Botany LGA. 

The suburb of Rosebery was named after Archibald Phillip Primrose, the fifth Earl of Rosebery, Prime 

Minister of the United Kingdom from 1894 to 1895. The suburb was named in his honour after his visit to 

Australia for two months in 1883-84. Rosebery suburb sits across two municipalities; the City of Sydney 

Municipality, which holds the majority of the suburb, and Bayside Council (formerly City of Botany Bay) 

which holds a small southern portion of Rosebery that is situated south of Gardeners Road. For such a 

small area, the ‘Botany-side’ of Rosebery has been the location of many significant elements in the overall 

development of the Botany District. 

The southern side of Rosebery (within the former Botany Bay LGA) is made up of two small land 

purchases from the Crown of 50 acres each; one to Samuel Peek in 1839 and the other to L. Gordon in the 

same year. The two lots were then subdivided and re-subdivided over the years, creating an ever finer 

grain to the urban pattern bounded by the roads that continue to define the original lots today.  The edges 

of the lots in this Crown subdivision are described by the roads that separate them. 
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In 1855 a corner acre bounded by Gardeners Road and Botany Road was 

the site of a very early pub in Botany, named the ‘Half-Way House’ (as 

it was sited half way from the City to the Bay, or more likely, to the Sir 

Joseph Banks Hotel down in lower Botany/Banksmeadow which was a 

major attraction to Sydneysiders by this time). The Half-Way House was 

replaced by the Newmarket Hotel and still stands on this corner block 

today. 

In 1913 the publican of the Newmarket Hotel at the time, James Thornton, 

commissioned a new theatre to be built on the lot he owned adjoining 

the back of his hotel, fronting Gardeners Road. Picture theatres were a 

popular attraction in the early 20th century and the Botany District at one 

time boasted not just one, but five. Thornton’s new theatre was unique 

in the District in that it was designed to be both a picture theatre and 

skating rink. It opened in 1913 as the ‘Rosebery Rink and Picture Theatre’ 

and was popular for many years before falling away from popularity (like 

all picture theatres of that era) and closed in 1960. The only picture theatre 

to survive in the Botany District (albeit surviving only in its substance, not 

in its use) is Rosebery’s Marina Theatre, also known as the Roxy Theatre, 

which continued to be used as a movie theatre up until the 1980s. 

A second hotel was built (also along Gardeners Road) called The Lakes 

Hotel in 1938 and St Therese’s Roman Catholic Church in 1940. The first 

Rosebery Racecourse had been established in 1895 at the north-western 

junction of Gardeners Road and Botany Road (diagonally opposite the 

Newmarket Hotel today). The racing activities were relocated in 1906 

to a new site called Rosebery Park Racecourse, soon known as Rosebery 

Racecourse despite it being situated within the adjoining suburb of 

Eastlakes.  

Rosebery was one of the earliest areas within the former Botany LGA to develop a 
suburban character.  The 1909 plan (top) shows that the area had already been subdivided 
and developed with a mix of market garden and suburban lots.

The 1943 (middle) photograph of Rosebery reveals that the area is almost fully developed 
by residential cottages. 

The 2014 aerial shows the overall consistency of land use and lot sizes of the underlying 
subdivision pattern.  
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